No. DA 25-0027

IN THE MATTER OF B.B.-R. and K.B.,

Youths in Need of Care.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Seventh Judicial District Court,
Dawson County, the Honorable Olivia Rieger, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

LAURA M. REED
P.O. Box 17437
Missoula, MT 59808
laurareedlawmt@gmail.com

ATTORNEY FOR MOTHER
AND APPELLANT

BRENDA NOLAND
Eastern Montana CASA/GAL
P.O. Box 1234
Miles City, MT 59301

CASA

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
KATHRYN FEY SCHULZ
Assistant Attorney General
Appellate Services Bureau
Montana Attorney General's
Office
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401

BRETT IRIGOIN
CODY LENSING
Dawson County Attorney's Office
121 S. Douglas

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. When Mother moved to a home in rural North Dakota, the Department placed the children with her, but failed to arrange services for the family, and failed to request an ICPC for nearly a year. North Dakota CPS repeatedly refused assistance. Did the Department fail to provide reasonable efforts to reunify the family?
2. The children were later placed in a home that was more than ten hours from Mother's, reducing her visitation drastically. Did the Department fail to make reasonable efforts?
3. Mother found a home, employment, did not have substance abuse issues, and stayed in contact with the Department. She had been regularly meeting with a mental health provider for six months when her rights were terminated. She also complied with her treatment plan tasks during a period when she had support from the Department. Did the court err in finding that her conduct or condition was unlikely to change in a reasonable period of time?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mother, A.B., appeals an Order from the Seventh Judicial District Court terminating her parental rights to B.B.-R., who was nine years old at the time of the removal, and K.B., who was five years old. *See* 9/27/24 Order Terminating Parental Rights, hereinafter “App. A.”

On February 16, 2021, the Department petitioned for emergency removal, adjudication of the child as a youth in need of care, and temporary legal custody of the child. D.C. Doc. 1. The petition was based on the following allegations:

Intake reports had been received alleging that the home wasn't clean, there was domestic violence by Mother's then-boyfriend, P.H., adults were cussing at children, there was inappropriate discipline, children had head lice and did not have good hygiene. Other adults lived in the home and were drinking. The Department was concerned about the children at times being in the care of Mother's then-boyfriend, P.H. B.B.-R. stated he was afraid of him. Mother and P.H. were trying to find a better place to live without the other adults. D.C. Doc. 1, 2/21 Moser Aff.

Some of the intake complaints were made by T.C., mother's ex-husband. At the time of the Department's involvement, Mother was going through custodial proceedings with T.C., who was the father of two younger children with her. These two children were not part of this case. T.C. was awarded primary custody of the two younger children.

B.B.-R's father had never been involved in his life, had to be served by publication and did not appear in the case. K.B.'s father was J.G., who lived in North Dakota, and requested that his paternity be proven with testing.

February and March, 2021 – Petition for Emergency Protective Services & EPS Hearing

Mother stipulated to emergency protective services but did not admit to any of the allegations. K.B. and B.B.-R. were placed with their stepfather, T.C. App. A. at 2; D.C. Docs. 1, 3.

June 1, 2021 – Court Adjudicates Children as Youths in Need of Care and Grants Temporary Legal Custody

Mother stipulated to the relief requested without accepting guilt. D.C. Doc. 27. The petition for adjudication alleged that Mother lacked housing, was still involved with P.H. (the inappropriate boyfriend) and was not following through with mental health therapy and medication

management. App. A at 2. The court told Mother that if she wanted to get her children back, it could not happen if she were still involved with P.H. P.H. had been prohibited from being around the children because of his CPS history. 6/1/21 Tr. at 12.

June 8, 2021 – Mother’s Treatment Plan Ordered

Mother was ordered to complete the following tasks: participate in all scheduled visitation; complete parenting class programs; maintain a safe, clean and stable home; maintain contact with the Department; find employment. D.C. Doc. 29.

November 2021– Hearing on Petition to Extend TLC

Mother stipulated to extension of TLC. Mother was attending supervised visitation, working part-time, attending mental health treatment, and contemplating leaving boyfriend P.H. D.C. Doc. 36.

End of 2021 – February 2022 – Mother moves to home of J.G., K.B.’s father, in Stanley, North Dakota

Mother moved from Glendive to Stanley, North Dakota to live with J.G., father of K.B. J.G. had a home and stable employment history. App. A at 4. Mother had difficulty finding services and providers in North Dakota for counseling and for medication management. App. A at 4-5.

May 3, 2022 – Hearing on Petition for Extension of Temporary TLC

The Department reported that visits between Mother, J.G. and the two children were increasing with a plan to transition B.B.-R. and K.B. to North Dakota. App. A at 5. CASA reported B.B.-R's mental health was still concerning. *Id.* K.B. was behaving violently in the placement setting with T.C. *Id.* In May, 2022, the Department placed the children in the home of J.G., K.B's father, in North Dakota, where Mother was now also living. The Department placed the children without an ICPC. App. A at 6.

The district court later noted that the Department was in error by placing the children with an offending parent (Mother) in another state without an ICPC. App. A at 7. The court did not consider J.G. a “non-offending parent,” at least with respect to B.B.-R., because he was not B.B.-R's father. The Department also did not dismiss the case against K.B., which it should have done if it was placing her with J.G. as a non-offending parent.

Stanley, North Dakota is small, rural town of 2000, a one-hour drive from Williston and Minot, respectively, and a three- to four-hour drive from Glendive, Montana, where the CPS services were located.

Summer, 2022 – No services arranged in North Dakota; North Dakota CPS refuses to assist family

At an August 16, 2022 hearing, the district court was concerned that the children had been placed in North Dakota for almost 10 weeks by the time of the hearing and no services had been arranged. CPS did not even begin to request services in North Dakota until two weeks before August 16. App. A. at 7. The referral to the Village in Minot was only made two weeks before the hearing. “It was discovered the day of the hearing that YCM service were not available in Stanley, ND for the family.” *Id.* Only two weeks before the hearing, the Department had asked North Dakota CPS to do basic in-home services and were “waiting on a response from their supervisor if she will allow her staff to start some basic in-home services.” “Per the local CPS staff they are willing to provide this service, but do not always get approval to help families who are not in their foster system.” App. A. at 6-7.

The Department also requested that ND CPS investigate safety of the home but ND CPS was simply “not responding” to their requests. *Id.*

The Department also encountered funding issues with using Montana services in North Dakota. According to CPS Moser, “we have

found out that YCM services are not available in Stanley as was initially thought, so we have explored Youth Dynamics. YDI has recently informed us that they cannot bill to ND Medicaid...now we are exploring trying to get approval from the Department to have the Department pay for YDI to do these services until the Village in Minot can start their services with the family.” App. A at 6. No counseling had been put in place for B.B-R. or K.B. at that time, and the CASA and attorney for the children were expressing concerns about the children’s mental health. *Id.*

Mother reported that as of July 2022 no one was able to provide mental health counseling services for her. App. A at 7. CPS Moser later testified that it was extremely difficult to obtain counseling services for the family while they were in North Dakota.

Q. Okay. So, the- is the hold up the lack of community services being engaged?

A. So, it’s not so much the lack of services being engaged by the parents, it’s the lack of availability of some of them that mental health says they need to have showing that she’s doing it.

...

So, we’re trying to sort that out, so that they are truly getting all of the community services- [A.B.] and [J.G] have never said they won’t do the services that are recommended.

2/14/23 Tr. at 16-17.

K.B. did not have a therapy appointment until the end of September, 2022, five months after being placed in Stanley. App. A. at 7.

September, 2022 – B.B-R. returned voluntarily to Montana by Mother

B.B.-R. had out-of-control behaviors while living with Mother and J.G. Mother and K.B. were finally going to therapy. He was placed with T.C. in Glendive until a group home placement could be found.

November 2022 – Petition to Extend TLC

Earlier in the fall, K.B. was struggling in school and the school requested that she have a psychological assessment. Mother had continued to experience difficulty in obtaining an evaluation and finding a provider. The Department suggested Mother contact Eastern Montana Community Mental Health to set up virtual mental health appointments and the Department would assist with costs if they did not accept her ND Medicaid. Later, however, the Department found out that virtual therapy was not available under this arrangement because

the Montana mental health provider was not licensed in North Dakota. App. A at 10.

The Department asked ND CPS to do a safety assessment of the home, but the “family reports no one has come to do this yet.” App. A at 9. Mother had trouble finding a dentist for K.B. who would accept Medicaid. App. A at 10. Mother continued to struggle with finding consistent providers for her mental health needs in North Dakota for therapy and medication and for a psychological evaluation. App. A at 8. The court extended TLC for a fourth time on November 15, 2022.

February – April, 2023 – K.B. exhibits out of control behavior at school

K.B. was acting out at school. The Department requested for the first time an Interstate Compact Home Study on father’s home, more than nine months after the children were moved to North Dakota. North Dakota CPS was still not cooperating with requests for safety assessments of parent’s home. “When asked why no ICPC was done prior to K.B.’s placement with J.G. and Mother in Stanley, Ms. Moser could not remember who advised that no ICPC is required.” App. A. at 10.

In March, 2023, K.B. continued to be out of control at school. The district court noted that on four occasions, it had been recommended that the Department arrange a psychological evaluation for K.B., but had yet to do so. *Id.* at 12. On April 19, 2023, CASA filed a status report again outlining K.B.'s inability to regulate her behaviors at school. *Id.*

April 21, 2023 – K.B. removed from home of Mother & J.G. in Stanley, ND

K.B.'s removal occurred as soon as North Dakota denied the ICPC request. Other reasons for the removal were Mother's mental health issues; her failure to provide verification of attendance at parenting classes; recent reports to North Dakota CFS with allegations of abuse/ or neglect of K.B. In addition, J.G. had not completed a mental health evaluation, nor a psychological evaluation a parenting program.¹

Summer 2023 – T.C. (stepfather placement) Moves Children to Lincoln, Montana, 10 Hours from Stanley, North Dakota

During this period, Mother and J.G. were required to travel four hours to visit K.B. in Glendive. B.B.-R. was in Intermountain group

¹ Despite the fact that J.G. was a non-offending parent of K.B., he was required to have a treatment plan. He was not appointed an attorney for much of the case.

home in Helena, ten hours away. Sometime before July, 2023, T.C. and his partner, A.E., moved with K.B. and B.B-R. and their siblings to Lincoln, Montana. 9/27/23 Tr. at 9. The reason for the move was that T.C.'s parents lived in Lincoln. Lincoln is a ten- to twelve-hour drive from Stanley, North Dakota.

Mother's ability to visit K.B. and B.B-R.. was drastically reduced. While the children were living in Lincoln, Mother drove from Stanley, ND to Helena only five times between September, 2023 and July, 2024, when the termination hearing was held. 8/21/24 Tr. at 200.

September, 2023 – Motion for Permanency Plan of Guardianship with Stepfather T.C.

The State filed a motion for permanency plan for child and child's sibling – guardianship with kinship placement/ stepfather T.C. The district court approved the permanency plan. D.C. Docs. 91, 93.

December, 2023 – CASA Report & Psychological Evaluation for K.B.

K.B. was evaluated by Dr. Roche in November, 2023. K.B. was asking for longer visits with her Mother. Mother was concerned about lack of support and impact of winter weather on traveling to visit the children. App. A at 16-17.

February 6, 2024 – Hearing on TLC Extension

The State and children’s counsel indicated they would support a petition to terminate parental rights. The district court granted extension of TLC, found that the child could not be returned to Mother’s and J.G.’s home because Mother “must address her own mental health issues before being able to meet the child’s needs” and J.G. must “complete a mental health eval and complete tasks of his treatment plan.” App. A. at 17.

April 24, 2024 – CASA Report

K.B. continued to act out in school one year after beginning living again with placement, her stepfather T.C. She was suspended from school, and was concerned she would be abandoned by her current placement, T.C. K.B. was distressed by virtual visits from Mother rather than in-person visits. App. A at 18.

June, 2024 – Status Hearing & Petition for Termination Filed

The State reported it planned to file petition for termination of parental rights, which it did on June 7, 2024. D.C. Doc. 111.

Summary of Placement of the Children Throughout the Case

In March, 2021, B.B.-R. and K.B. were initially placed with their stepfather, T.C. (Mother's former husband), and their siblings, two younger children of Mother and T.C. (The district court had given primary custody of those children to T.C. T.C. had a new partner, A.E., who was not licensed as a foster care provider.)

After a May 3, 2022, hearing, K.B. and B.B.-R. were placed in the home of Mother and K.B.'s father, J.G., in Stanley, North Dakota. In September, 2022, B.B.-R. was struggling with behavioral issues in Stanley. He was returned to the home of his stepfather, T.C., in Glendive. Mother had asked CPS to take him back after being unable to deal with his behavioral problems while he was living with her and J.G. His therapist, Ms. Hynes, recommended that he be placed in a group home.

From November, 2022 to September, 2023, B.B.-R. stayed at Intermountain group home in Helena. Then he was placed with T.C. and his half-siblings in Lincoln, Montana. 9/27/23 Tr. at 9. K.B. was removed from Mother's care again in April, 2023. She lived in another foster placement for a couple of months, and then moved to

T.C.'s home again with her siblings. She was still living with T.C. at the time of the termination hearing. 8/22/24 Tr. at 18.

T.C. moved to Lincoln, Montana with K.B. and her siblings (Mother's younger children) sometime before July, 2023. 9/27/23 Tr. at 9. As of the filing of this appeal, B.B.-R. was no longer living with T.C. B.B.-R. had reported to CPS that he was afraid of T.C. After her rights had been terminated, Mother did not know where he was located.

August 21-22, 2024 – Termination Hearing Conducted

Dr. Roche, a psychologist, testified about psychological evaluations she had performed on each of the two children. She also informed the court about the parent-child interaction assessment she had conducted to evaluate Mother's parenting. 8/21/24 Tr. at 16-93. Ms. Joanne Hynes, a child and family therapist who had treated Mother and the kids at various times over a period of several years, testified regarding the children's behavioral and mental health difficulties and Mother's failed mental health treatment with her. *Id.* at 94-173.

Mother testified regarding transportation difficulties and difficulties obtaining services in Stanley, North Dakota.

She described the challenges of finding mental health services in Stanley, ND, which was one hour from Minot and one hour from Williston, respectively. *Id.* at 218. She stated that she had been engaging in mental health treatment regularly since the end of 2023. *Id.* at 204. She asked for six more months to work on her treatment plan. *Id.*

Mother also explained that visitation had not been consistent since kids moved to Lincoln because she did not have a working vehicle. *Id.* at 208. She also explained that the Department's arrangements with relatives' vehicles were not helpful because they couldn't even get to the vehicles. *Id.* at 209. One of the vehicles offered, for example, was her father's, and he was located in Glendive, four hours from Stanley, North Dakota.

Q. Okay. When you were told that you needed to visit the kids, and the Department would provide gas vouchers and hotels and all those things, that wasn't enough in order to help you with the visits?

A. It was enough, but it was hard for us to get anywhere and go see them from November till July, when we didn't have a vehicle running. We were borrowing a vehicle, or we were getting rides to and from work, or I - particularly me, I was walking.

Q. Didn't Laura find a relative of yours that said you could use their car?

A. Yeah. But how would we have gotten from Stanley to here, to even get the car, when we didn't have a running vehicle?

Id. at 209.

CPS Moser also testified that it was difficult to provide services to Mother and the family when they were living in Stanley. 8/22/24 Tr. at 20. “There’s a lot of- more limited providers even in the rural areas than there are in Montana. And so, mom was trying to travel to get services to Minot; wasn't able to consistently do that.”

CPS Moser claimed that the Department had provided Mother assistance with transportation. 8/22/24 Tr. at 14.

She explained that Mother was less consistent about visitation when she lived further away from the children. “Well, when she was in Montana, it was once or twice a week. When she moved to North Dakota, she would travel to Glendive when the kids were still in Glendive to do that. She would often cancel in those cases, but it was supposed to be weekly. Then, when she went to Helena, it was supposed to be monthly is what they could- had committed to. And that did not happen consistently.” 8/22/24 Tr. at 15.

September 30, 2024 – Court’s Order Terminating Mother’s Parental Rights

Applying the factors in MCA § 41-3-609, the district court found that clear and convincing evidence established that an appropriate treatment plan had been approved. App. A. at 21-22. The birth mother had not complied with the treatment plan and her ability to provide adequate parental care was unlikely to change in a reasonable amount of time. Specifically, Mother had not followed through with her own mental health therapy; had not been consistent with visitation despite Department’s efforts to subsidize travel costs; she was unable to understand the children’s needs. The court noted that B.B.-R. and K.B. had significant mental health issues and needed permanency.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The Department admitted that it could not arrange mental health treatment and other services in rural North Dakota. Thus, it failed to provide reasonable efforts to reunify the family. The Department mishandled Mother’s case by failing to understand the laws regarding Interstate Compact and placement in another state. Because of this failure, and the refusal of North Dakota CPS to provide assistance without an ICPC, the children’s homestay with Mother failed.

The district court erred in finding that the conduct and condition rendering Mother unfit to give the children adequate parental care was unlikely to change within a reasonable time. Mother had failed to attend mental health treatment consistently primarily because no treatment was available in rural North Dakota. She had stopped visiting the children regularly because the placement, T.C., moved them ten hours away from her home, with the Department's permission. Mother had complied with many of her treatment plan goals, including finding a stable home, and employment. Given the acknowledged difficulties in arranging treatment and services in North Dakota, Mother should have been permitted additional time to demonstrate she could care for the children.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews a district court's termination of parental rights for an abuse of discretion. *In re T.N.-S.*, 2015 MT 117, ¶16, 379 Mont. 60, 347 P.3d 1263. A district court abuses its discretion when it "acts arbitrarily, without employment of conscientious judgment, or exceeds the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice." *In re R.M.T.*, 2011 MT 164, ¶26, 361 Mont. 159, 256 P.3d 935. The Court reviews a

district court's findings of fact to determine whether they are clearly erroneous and reviews the district court's conclusions of law to determine whether they are correct. *In re D.B.*, 2007 MT 246, ¶18, 339 Mont. 240, 168 P.3d 691.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEPARTMENT DID NOT MAKE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO REUNIFY MOTHER WITH HER CHILDREN.

A. The Department is required to assist parents with completing their treatment plans.

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