IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 25-0027

---

IN THE MATTER OF:

B.B.-R. and K.B.,

Youths in Need of Care.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Seventh Judicial District Court,  
Dawson County, The Honorable Olivia Rieger, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
THAD TUDOR  
Assistant Attorney General  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Phone: 406-444-2026  
thad.tudor@mt.gov

BRETT IRIGOIN  
Dawson County Attorney  
CODY LENSING  
Deputy County Attorney  
121 South Douglas  
Glendive, MT 59330

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF  
AND APPELLEE

LAURA M. REED  
Attorney at Law

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

In every interaction Hynes had with Parents, they exhibited “raised voices, defensive behaviors, defensive attitudes, and kind of refusal to accept their piece of it, or to accept the kid’s perspective of what was going on in their home.” (*Id.* at 21.) Parents blamed Hynes for their inconsistent attendance at the court-ordered therapy sessions. (*Id.* at 23.)

Mother testified that she had been diagnosed with bipolar disorder, PTSD, and ADHD. (8/21/24 Tr. at 183.) Nevertheless, Mother admitted, she took a “pretty big break” from her medications because she “didn’t like taking pills.” (*Id.*) She

had restarted taking her medications “for the sake of [her] kids.” (*Id.* at 184.)

Mother reported that she had not used methamphetamine since 2014. (*Id.* at 185.)

Mother had a medical marijuana card in North Dakota. (*Id.* at 186.) She claimed that she smoked it at night and smoked “one bowl” when she did. (*Id.*) She would ingest marijuana after her children went to bed. (*Id.*) When asked if she had ever exposed her children to secondhand smoke or her own intoxication, she responded, “I’m sure I have.” (*Id.*)

Even though Dr. Roche warned that this could make it difficult for her to reunify with her children, Mother continued to use marijuana because it helped with her anxiety and anger. (*Id.* at 198.) When asked if she had a plan to deal with her children if they were returned, Mother responded that she would “start doing [her] counseling again and doing all the, the—try to do more parenting classes,” and she would see what she could find “online” to help her parent. (*Id.* at 199.)

When asked why she moved to North Dakota, Mother responded,

Because I felt like it’d be better for me. To get away from all the drama that I was going through, and all—people putting me down. And it’s like, I would say one small little thing to somebody about something, and they would flip it around and make a huge story of something that never even happened.

(*Id.* at 200.)

Mother admitted to not maintaining regular contact with Moser because sometimes she got “angry.” (*Id.* at 203.) When asked how long she thought she

needed to complete with her treatment plan, Mother responded, “I want to say *at least six more months.*” (*Id.* (emphasis added).)

Williams had the following exchange with Mother:

Q. . . . Can you tell me why you haven’t stayed with doing the counseling over the past three and a half years?

A. I felt like it wasn’t working, and I didn’t need it.

Q. Well, did you understand that the treatment plan was ordered by the Court in order to have the children live with you again?

A. Yes.

(*Id.* at 208.)

When asked why she had not complied with the court-ordered therapy sessions with Hynes, Mother responded:

Because I would get angry at the things she said to me. And I wasn’t accepting the fact that I have anger issues and some of the trauma that my kids have gone through is partially my fault. I, I can’t accept it to do my—save myself, but apparently I just did. I said it in front of everybody in this courtroom.

(*Id.* at 210.)

Mother claimed that she did not attend scheduled visits due to “broken down vehicles.” (*Id.* at 208.) Williams asked, “When you were told that you needed to visit the kids, and the Department would provide gas vouchers and hotels and all those things, that wasn’t enough in order to help you with the visits?” Mother responded, “It was enough, but it was hard for us to get anywhere and go see them

from November [2023] till July [2024], when we didn't have a vehicle running. We were borrowing a vehicle, or we were getting rides to and from work, or I—particularly me, I was walking.” (*Id.* at 209.)

When asked what more the Department could have done to help her with the tasks on her treatment plan, Mother replied, “I guess, kind of explained it a little better for me, or to me, on exactly what I needed to do.” (*Id.* at 210.)

Moser, who had been with the Department for over 25 years, and had been involved in this case since February 10, 2021, prepared Mother's treatment plans, which were identical for B.B.-R. and K.B. (8/22/24 Tr. at 235-36, 238-39.) When asked how the Department helped Mother try to reunify with the children, Moser responded, “we have provided visitation. We have provided mental health services, gotten her an assessment, assisted her in trying to follow through with those recommendations. Assisted her in trying to have stable housing, given her transportation.” (*Id.* at 239-40.)

Moser described how the children's kinship placement was chosen:

[Mother] actually helped choose that initially. She's—was the one that suggested that because her two younger children were with their birthfather, [T.C.]. And that way her siblings could be together. And that was a hard choice for [Mother] that day, it really was. But she was trying to think about what was best for all of her children. And being separated from her plus separated from siblings, she didn't want that day. So, that's how we came to that conclusion. And [T.C.] was willing and worked with the Department to get a kinship license.

(*Id.* at 243.)

When asked if the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children (ICPC) denial from North Dakota was the only reason that K.B. was removed from Parents' home, Moser responded, "no," and explained that K.B. was removed based on her escalating behavior at school, multiple reports of neglect, and concerns about what had been described to her by North Dakota law enforcement. (*Id.* at 249.)

Moser testified that Mother had failed to follow through with the recommendations of her mental health assessment and failed to show that she could implement the skills taught in her parenting class(es). (*Id.* at 251-52.) Mother had missed scheduled visits with the children and had not maintained consistent contact with Moser. (*Id.* at 253.)

When asked if she had attempted to engage with Mother to get her to be more consistent with her visits, Moser responded:

I have literally begged [Mother] at every check-in that she's had with me to please visit. My supervisor has begged her to do that. We have offered hundreds and hundreds of, like, thousands of dollars' worth of gas vouchers and hotel rooms. We have arranged with her family members to—transportation when they said they couldn't get there because of the car being broken down. We've even arranged family members that have been willing to drive to North Dakota and get them to bring them here. And then, get—loan them a vehicle after that. So, we, we've had her sign releases, so we could talk to her father to help coordinate that. So, we've, we've tried everything we can think of.

(*Id.* at 253-54.)

Moser later clarified the Department's efforts to engage Parents with visitation, explaining that the Department had discussed the barriers with Parents in

an effort to solve the problem. (9/04/24 Tr. at 125.) They could not fly Parents back to Montana, as they did not possess a credit card that would be needed to obtain a rental car for transportation to and from the airports, and the Department could not pay for rental vehicles. (*Id.*) They discussed whether Parents could ride the bus and whether they had relatives who could assist. (*Id.* at 125-26.) Moser had personally driven to Wolf Point to hand-deliver vouchers to Parents after they alleged that they had not received the vouchers Moser had sent in the mail. (*Id.* at 126.)

The Department ruled out having staff drive Parents to visits after Father had threatened Moser over the phone. (*Id.* at 127.)

Whenever the Department would propose a solution to Parents' transportation problems so that they could attend visitation, the solutions were "typically shot down by [Father]." (*Id.* at 122.) For example, when the Department found a relative who was willing to provide a vehicle for Parents to use, Father declined, saying that the vehicle was "too small" and that he would be "too uncomfortable" during the ride. (*Id.*)

Notably, K.B.'s behavior improved when Parents did not have in-person visits with her from November 2023 through July 2024. (*Id.* at 132.) After Parents attended visits in July and August 2024, K.B. "immediately" regressed. (*Id.*) K.B. began "struggling at school with behaviors and acting out in a way [the Department had not] seen in a long time for her." (*Id.* at 133.)

The district court terminated Mother's parental rights on September 27, 2024. (Doc. 146; DN-21-05 Doc. 153.)

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The record supports that the Department made reasonable efforts to reunify Mother with B.B.-R. and K.B., but that those efforts were ultimately unsuccessful. After Mother chose to move to Stanley, North Dakota, the Department had arranged for services through YDI and agreed to pay for those services because YDI could not bill North Dakota Medicaid. With those services in place, the Department placed K.B. and B.B.-R. with Mother on a trial home visit, which ultimately ended based on B.B.-R.'s and K.B.'s escalating and alarming behaviors. After the trial home visit ended, the Department continued to refer K.B., B.B.-R., and Mother to services aimed at helping Mother successfully reunify with her children, including arranging to help Mother be able to consistently visit the children. Despite the numerous efforts provided, Mother was unable to timely appreciate what would be required of her to safely parent her children.

The record demonstrates that no amount of time would help Mother be able to safely parent her children. Substantial evidence accumulated from 2021 through August 2024 supported that Mother was unable to meet the mental, emotional, or physical needs of B.B.-R. and/or K.B. The district court correctly determined that

the conduct and condition rendering Mother unfit was unlikely to change in a reasonable time. Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it terminated Mother's parental rights.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews a district court's decision to terminate a person's parental rights for an abuse of discretion. *In re R.K.*, 2023 MT 161, ¶ 21, 413 Mont. 184, 534 P.3d 659. "A court abuses its discretion if it terminates parental rights based on clearly erroneous findings of fact, erroneous conclusions of law, or otherwise acts arbitrarily, without employment of conscientious judgment, or exceeds the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice." *Id.* (citation omitted).

This Court reviews the factual findings of the district court to determine if they are clearly erroneous and reviews conclusions of law to determine if they are correct. *In re J.B.*, 2016 MT 68, ¶¶ 9-10, 383 Mont. 165, 365 P.3d 715 (citations omitted). "A factual finding is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if review of the record convinces the Court a mistake was made." *J.B.*, ¶ 10 (citation omitted).

## ARGUMENT

### **The district court did not abuse its discretion when it terminated Mother's parental rights.**

In a non-ICWA case, to terminate a parent's rights, the district court must find that clear and convincing evidence establishes: (1) the child was adjudicated as a youth in need of care; (2) the parent has not successfully completed an appropriate treatment plan approved by the district court; and (3) the parent's conduct or condition "rendering them unfit is unlikely to change within a reasonable time." Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f)(i)-(ii).

On appeal, Mother contends that the Department did not provide reasonable efforts to reunify the family and the district court erred when it found that Mother's conduct or condition rendering her unfit was unlikely to change in a reasonable amount of time. Accordingly, Mother has waived review of the district court's remaining conclusions of law. *See* M. R. App. P. 12(3); *State v. Myran*, 2012 MT 252, ¶ 19, 366 Mont. 532, 289 P.3d 118.

### **Substantial credible evidence supported the district court's findings that the conduct or condition rendering Mother unfit was unlikely to change in a reasonable amount of time.**

Montana Code Annotated § 41-3-609(1)(f)(ii) requires a district court to find that a parent's conduct or condition rendering them unfit to parent is unlikely to change within a reasonable amount of time. As part of that determination, the district court must find that "continuation of the parent-child legal relationship will

likely result in continued abuse or neglect or that the conduct or the condition of the parents renders the parents unfit, unable, or unwilling to give the child adequate parental care.” Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(2). When making this determination, the district court must give primary consideration to the “physical, mental, and emotional conditions and needs of the child.” Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(3). In addition, the district court shall consider the non-exhaustive list of factors codified at Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(2).

The inquiry is not “whether a parent has made progress or would make some progress in the future.” *In re A.B.*, 2020 MT 64, ¶ 27, 399 Mont. 219, 460 P.3d 405. Rather, the district court must answer “whether the parent is likely to make enough progress within a reasonable time to overcome the circumstances rendering [the parent] unfit to parent.” *Id.* In answering this question, the district court remains “required to assess the past and present conduct of the parent. [District courts] do not have a crystal ball to look into to make this determination, so it must, to some extent, be based on a person’s past conduct.” *Id.*

Here, Mother’s conduct before and during the Department’s involvement supported the district court’s finding that Mother’s conduct or condition rendering her unfit to parent was unlikely to change in a reasonable amount of time. The Department began receiving reports on Mother’s ability to safely parent her children throughout January and February 2021. The reported concerns included

the children having chronically poor hygiene, being left with inappropriate caregivers, witnessing domestic violence and drug use, and physical abuse occurring in the home. Although Mother ended her relationship with her then-paramour and left Glendive to move in with Father in North Dakota, Mother definitively proved that she was not able to safely parent the children once they were in her care.

Notably, the Department placed the children with Mother on a trial home visit and, during that time, B.B.-R. exhibited concerning behaviors that ultimately led to Mother voluntarily ending B.B.-R.'s trial home visit and returning him to Montana.

While initially left in the home, it became clear that K.B. was struggling in school. K.B. was disruptive in class, expressing that Father had told her no one wanted her, stating that she was going to kill herself, and informing school staff that she was afraid to go home. On at least one occasion, K.B. arrived at a school staff member's home over a weekend with her hair matted, complaining that she was hungry, and stating that she had been left home alone. Indeed, K.B. exhibited signs of malnourishment as she had not gained a single pound in the 11 months she was in Mother's home.

After the trial home visit ended, despite the Department's efforts, Mother's sessions with Hynes were unproductive. Mother would become defensive, often ending sessions early, which resulted in Hynes being unable to make progress in

helping Mother understand how to safely parent her children. Mother did not consistently visit the children following their removal, nor did Mother engage with her children's therapy sessions.

Accordingly, the district court did not err when it found that Mother's ability to provide adequate parental care for B.B.-R. was unlikely to change in a reasonable amount of time due to the following:

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